IN THE MATTER OF P.T. JIBSAIL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP TIDELANDS LICENSE NUMBER 1515-06-0012.1 TDI 190001 SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY

SUPREME COURT Docket No.:

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY APPELLATE DIVISION DOCKET NO.: A-699-22

Appellate Division Judges: Hon. Jessica R. Mayer, J.A.D. Hon. Lorraine Augostini, J.A.D. Hon. Mary Gibbons Whipple, J.A.D.

Civil Action

On Appeal from a Final Agency Decision of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection

PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION ON BEHALF OF APPELLANT-PETITIONER JANINE MORRIS TRUST

LIEBERMAN BLECHER & SINKEVICH, P.C.

10 Jefferson Plaza, Suite 400 Princeton, New Jersey 08540

TEL.: (732) 355-1311 FAX: (732) 355-1310

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED

Tidelands are "all lands under tidewater below high-water mark." <u>In re Tideland's License 96-0114-T</u>, 326 N.J. Super. 209, 212 (App. Div. 1999). The State of New Jersey owns all tidelands in the State's territory and regulates, through the Tideland Resource Council ("TRC"), the issuance of grants, leases, and licenses to permit the use of, and building on, such environmentally important lands. <u>Ibid</u>. The Tidelands Act, N.J.S.A. 12:3-1 to 12:3-71, outlines the authority and duties of the TRC.

A fundamental duty of the TRC is to establish around or in front of all islands situated in the tidal waters of the State, exterior lines in said waters, beyond which no pier, wharf, bulkhead, erection, or permanent obstruction of any kind shall be made or maintained. See N.J.S.A. 12:3-19. Also known as a pierhead line, the pierhead line is the legal boundary beyond which no structures of any kind may be built. New Jersey v. Delaware, 552 U.S. 597, 642 (2008).

N.J.S.A. 12:3-19 clearly establishes the procedure that the TRC must follow in fixing the pierhead line as follows:

The Tidelands Resource Council, with the approval of the Commissioner of the Environmental Protection and after consultation with the Army Corps of Engineers, shall, from time to time, fix and establish, around or in front of all islands, reefs and shoals situate in the tidal waters of this State, exterior lines in said waters, beyond which no pier, wharf, bulkhead, erection or permanent obstruction of any kind shall be made or maintained... when the council shall have so fixed and established said lines after consultation as aforesaid, it shall file a survey and map thereof in the Office of the Secretary of State, showing the lines for piers and solid filling so fixed and established.

N.J.S.A. 12:3-19 (emphasis added).

The reason for requiring a fixed and established outward line beyond which no permanent obstruction of any kind can be made or maintained is clear. Without a uniform system applying to all riparian lands around an island, the result would be an ad hoc fixing of the line for each grant, lease, or license that could impede an adjacent riparian owner's fundamental right to navigation. This situation is exactly what happened in this matter. The Pierhead line as established by survey was reflected on the Borough Tax map. [Aa361.] It is located 100 feet from the bulkhead line. The TRC disregarded this line and permitted a dock well beyond this line at from the bulkhead.

Appellant-Petitioner, Janine Morris Trust ("Appellant" or "Trust"), brings this petition for certification after the Appellate Division affirmed the final agency decision of the TRC, an arm of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection ("NJDEP"), permitting the modification of a tidelands license granted to Respondent, P.T. Jibsail Family Limited Partnership ("Jibsail") on May 8, 2024. [SCa59-SCa82.] The initial tidelands license,

¹ "SCa" refers to the pages in Appellant's Supreme Court Appendix.

issued to Jibsail on March 8, 2018, allowed Jibsail to occupy sufficient tidelands to construct a 168-foot dock extension, resulting in an approximately 300-footlong dog-legged dock protruding into Barnegat Bay and crossing in front of Appellant's existing approximately 150-foot-long dock. [SCa60.] The 2022 tidelands license modification allowed for a 1.7-foot error in the location of the dock extension as constructed and the boundaries of the license as initially approved. See id. Appellant argued below that the 2017 license and the 2022 modification should have been vacated in light of the clear legislative mandate prohibiting the construction of any permanent obstruction of any kind beyond the pierhead line.

Jibsail's property is located at 83 Pershing Boulevard, Lavallette, West Point Island, New Jersey ("Jibsail Property"). [Aa57-Aa153.]² Appellant owns the property at 85 Pershing Boulevard, Lavallette, West Point Island, New Jersey, which is immediately adjacent to the Jibsail Property. [Aa419-Aa421.] On May 19, 2017, the NJDEP issued a Waterfront Development ("WFD") individual permit No. 1515-06-0012.1 to Jibsail for a 167.3-foot dock extension and 2 open-type boat lifts. [Aa159-Aa163.] The dock extension was constructed in the Spring of 2018. [Aa404; Aa406.] On December 12, 2017, the TRC issued a ten-year Tidelands license to Jibsail for the dock extension. [Aa183-Aa195.]

² "Aa" refers to the pages in Appellant's Appellate Appendix.

In 2017 during the WFD permitting process, Appellant, and other neighbors, submitted public comment to the NJDEP opposing the installation of the extended dock at the Jibsail Property. [Aa422.] However, those comments were misplaced by the Department. [SCa6.] Appellant subsequently discovered the extension after it had already been approved and constructed. [SCa6].

The Jibsail extended dock is almost twice as long as other docks in the area. [Aa404; Aa405; Aa422.] The Jibsail extended dock is also angled in a manner that interferes with Appellant's use and enjoyment of Appellant's dock and results in significant safety and navigational issues. These issues are evident based on a simple review of photographs and other documentary evidence in the record. [Aa404; Aa405; Aa407; Aa443; Aa533-Aa537; Aa539; Aa545].

As noted above, Jibsail's dock was not constructed in accordance with its WFD permit and tidelands license. As such, Jibsail was required to obtain a WFD permit modification and a modified tidelands license. On March 4, 2020, the TRC held a hearing on Jibsail's modified tidelands license application. Janine Morris is one of the trustees of the Appellant. [SCa5.] Ms. Morris testified to the increased navigational and safety hazards that now exist because of Jibsail's extended dock. [SCa7.] John Morris testified that his ability to approach Appellant's dock is now severely compromised and forces him to take unsafe measures in order to reach and dock on Appellant's dock. [SCa14.] Other

members of the public also noted safety concerns and impediments to the public caused by Jibsail's extended dock. [SCa18-SCa20.]

After the hearing, the TRC reserved decision and requested written briefs on the issues raised. [SCa20.] In addition, the TRC requested that the New Jersey Office of Attorney General provide an opinion on the issues raised during the hearing. [SCa20.] On April 20, 2020, Appellant filed its post-hearing brief and exhibits. [Aa297-Aa299.] On April 23, 2020, Jibsail filed its post-hearing brief. [Aa300-Aa302.] On May 1, 2020, Appellant filed its supplemental post-hearing brief. [Aa303-Aa308.] The exhibits that were introduced by Appellant, which can be found at Aa338-Aa545, visually demonstrate the perils of Jibsail's extended dock.

Following approximately two and a half years of consistent follow-ups by Appellant, and a subsequent mandamus action filed in the Superior Court of New Jersey, the TRC scheduled the second hearing for the Jibsail application on September 14, 2022. On September 14, 2022, the TRC voted to approve Jibsail's application. [SCa56-SCa58.] A resolution of approval was signed on October 6, 2022 (the "Resolution"). [Aa551-Aa555.]

The Resolution contains numerous errors and findings not supported by the record. Of particular note, the Resolution states that "[t]he Council has determined that the established pierhead line is the outshore extent of an individual riparian owner's riparian rights to erect a dock or pier, or to claim preemptive rights related to a pending application before the Council." [Aa552.] However, the Resolution is silent on whether Jibsail's tidelands license is within the established pierhead line. It should also be noted that the TRC relies entirely on the WFD permit issued to Jibsail for a finding that navigation to nearby properties is not hindered. <u>Ibid</u>. The deferring of this finding by the TRC is in direct conflict with the purpose of the TRC review, which is to ensure that the issuance of the tidelands instrument is in the public interest and does not prevent another's access to navigable waters. <u>Bailey v. Driscoll</u>, 19 N.J. 363, 374 (1955); N.J.S.A. 12:3-12.1.

What cannot be disputed in this matter is that the pierhead line has been established as required under New Jersey statute. [Aa361; Aa539; Aa545.] As approved, the Jibsail Dock is well beyond the pierhead line. [Aa539; Aa545.] This is a clear violation of the plain language of the statute, which clearly and unambiguously only permits the construction of permanent structures of any kind within the pierhead line. N.J.S.A. 12:3-19. As the TRC never had any legal authority to grant any rights beyond the pierhead line, and in fact is specifically prohibited from doing so, the entire approval is *ultra vires* in the primary sense and *void ab initio*. For these reasons, the 2017 tidelands license and 2022 tidelands license modification must be vacated.

QUESTION PRESENTED

1. DOES THE TRC HAVE THE LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH PIERHEAD LINES THROUGH INDIVIDUAL CONVEYANCES?

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF AND COMMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S OPINION

Certification should be granted because the issues herein present questions of general public importance and should be settled by the Supreme Court. See R. 2:12-4.

I. THE TRC DOES NOT HAVE THE LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY TO ESTABLISH PIERHEAD LINES THROUGH INDIVIDUAL CONVEYANCES.

The Appellate Division held that the TRC can establish the exterior lines outside which no development can occur through individual conveyances. [SCa81.] The Court erroneously relied upon <u>Schultz v. Wilson</u> for this proposition, in which the Court stated:

We do not consider the <u>Bailey [II]</u> case as requiring the Council to make an independent survey to establish the pierhead and bulkhead line prior to the execution of a riparian grant. No reason appears why the line cannot be established in the grant itself. It would be unreasonable to assume that in fixing [the riparian owner's] exterior line the Council did not have in mind that in future grants the same exterior course would be followed along the creek, so as to establish a practical uniformity and assure littoral owners reasonable access to navigable waters.

[SCa81 (alterations in original) (citing Shultz v. Wilson, 44 N.J. Super. 591, 607 (App. Div. 1957))].

In <u>Schultz</u>, the appellant contended that a riparian grant issued to respondent was invalid because the exterior pierhead and bulkhead lines had not been established prior to the issuance of the grant. <u>Schultz</u>, 44 N.J. Super. at 605-06. The Court determined that while the exterior lines were not previously established, the riparian deed expressly fixed the exterior line "in accordance with the express statutory authority, [N.J.S.A. 12:3-17], and the established practice of the [TRC] in fixing exterior lines in riparian deeds and accompany maps." <u>Id.</u> at 606.

N.J.S.A. 12:3-17 directed "the board *** at the request of shore owners' to extend its surveys over the tidewaters of the state showing what lines have been established for 'the exterior lines for solid filling and pier lines." (alterations in original) Bailey, 19 N.J. at 372 (citing N.J.S.A. 12:3-17). Therefore, at the time of the decision of Schultz, there was statutory authority to which the TRC could reasonably interpret permitting the establishment of exterior lines through individual conveyances. However, N.J.S.A. 12:3-17 was repealed in 1979. A similar statutory provision allowing fixing the pierhead line through individual conveyances was never enacted in its place. The logical conclusion drawn from this Legislative action is that the Legislature wanted to

ensure that the pierhead was set on a more global and uniform basis in accordance, as to islands, with N.J.S.A. 12:3-19.

Schultz also relied upon Bailey v. Council of Div. of Planning and Development, to show that the Supreme Court had also acknowledged that "normally' the line 'would be established prior to a grant.' This indicates that the [Supreme Court] was aware that such was not always the practice and that the line might be fixed in the grant itself." Schultz, 44 N.J. Super. at 607 (citing Bailey v. Council of Div. of Planning and Development, 22 N.J. 366, 372 (1956)). However, these cases were all decided prior to the repeal of N.J.S.A. 12:3-17 in 1979. Therefore, the reliance on Schultz and its interpretation and application of N.J.S.A. 12:3-17 is respectfully in error.

To the extent that the Appellate Division was relying upon N.J.S.A. 12:3-19, the statute states that:

The Tidelands Resource Council, with the approval of the Commissioner of Environmental Protection and after consultation with the Army Corps of Engineers, shall, from time to time, fix and establish, around or in front of all islands, reefs and shoals situate in the tidal waters of this State, exterior lines in said waters...

[N.J.S.A. 12:3-19 (emphasis added).]

Furthermore, the Legislature clearly intended this line to be fixed in a uniform manner by the filing of a statewide survey and map delineating the pierhead line, as the statute continues to read:

...and when the council shall have so fixed and established said lines after consultation as aforesaid, it shall file a survey and map thereof in the Office of the Secretary of State, showing the lines for piers and solid filling so fixed and established.

[<u>Ibid</u>. (emphasis added).]³

Regardless of the past practices of the TRC in establishing the pierhead line pursuant to N.J.S.A. 12:3-17, New Jersey is now faced with a chaotic situation where the ad hoc application of the line has resulted in a clear lack of uniformity and a threat to navigation and safety to those that utilize navigable waters, such as the channel to Barnegat Bay in this matter. Respectfully, the TRC must follow the law and cannot act beyond its statutory authority. The TRC needs to consult with the Army Corps of Engineers and obtain approval from the Commissioner of the Environmental Protection. The plain language of N.J.S.A. 12:3-19 cannot be interpreted to permit amendment of the exterior lines through individual conveyances.

If the exterior lines could be amended on an ad hoc basis through individual conveyances, then there would be no point to the establishment of exterior lines and would render entire sections of the statute "inoperative, superfluous, void, or insignificant." Sanchez v. Fitness Factory Edgewater,

³ The only map in the record showing the pierhead line is the one which Appellant submitted into evidence. [Aa361.] No other maps reflecting a change in the pierhead line have been introduced by the parties.

LLC, 242 N.J. 252, 261 (2020). For example, N.J.S.A. 12:3-1 states in relevant part that the TRC would fix the exterior lines beyond which no permanent obstruction should be permitted, and establish a plan for the improvement, use, renting, or leasing of said lands. If the TRC could simply amend the lines through individual conveyances, this would make it irrelevant and insignificant to have done this initial survey and established a plan for conveyances. By way of further example, N.J.S.A. 12:3-3 prohibits the filling of materials beyond the established bulkhead lines and prohibits the erection or maintenance of any pier or structure beyond the pierhead line in certain areas. N.J.S.A. 12:3-14 has a similar prohibition of any encroachment beyond the bulkhead lines or pierhead lines.

If the TRC could simply amend the lines through individual conveyances, then it makes these sections superfluous and negates the very purpose of establishing the bulkhead or pierhead line. An owner already has to obtain permission from the TRC to do any project within tidally flowed waters. It does not make sense that this prohibition was meant to only apply to individuals since any action without TRC approval would already be a violation. There is no purpose to the exterior lines if it can simply be amended on an ad hoc basis through individual conveyances.

Lastly, N.J.S.A. 12:3-20 states that "the [TRC], together with the Commissioner of Environmental Protection, may sell or let to any applicant therefor any of the lands under water and below mean high-water mark, embraced within the lines fixed and established pursuant to [N.J.S.A 12:3-19]." (emphasis added). The TRC's interpretation would make the limitation "embraced within the lines fixed and established" completely superfluous if the TRC could simply amend the lines ad hoc through individual conveyances. The interpretation of a statute should give effect to all of the statutory provisions so that it "does not render any language inoperative, superfluous, void, or insignificant." Sanchez, 242 N.J. at 261. While the above cited statutory provisions may not apply to the issuance of licenses for island properties, the sections illustrate the inconsistency of the Appellate Division's holding in this matter.

Acts which are utterly beyond the jurisdiction of a governmental entity are *ultra vires* in the primary sense and *void ab initio*. Summer Cottagers' Assoc. v. Cape May, 19 N.J. 493, 504 (1955); Heyert v. Taddese, 431 N.J. Super. 388, 429 (App. Div. 2013); see also City Council of City of Orange Tp. v. Edwards, 455 N.J. Super. 261, 274 (App. Div. 2018) (holding that a void act results from where a public officer has no authority to act at all). For these reasons, Appellant respectfully submits that the Appellate Division erred in relying upon Schultz

and its interpretation of the now repealed N.J.S.A. 12:3-17 in determining that the TRC had statutory authority to amend the exterior lines through individual conveyances. As a result, the TRC original tidelands license grant to Jibsail, and the subsequent modification must be vacated. This is an issue that impacts all riparian landowners in New Jersey and must be settled by this Court.

REASONS WHY CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE ALLOWED

Absent certification, the state of case law is wholly incongruent with statutory law and the TRC would be acting beyond its statutory authority. The TRC has formidable power to issue grants, leases, and license to State owned tidelands. The TRC's role is to determine whether applications for the grant, lease, or license of riparian lands are in the public interest. N.J.S.A. 12:3-12.1. Beginning in 1851, New Jersey began passing a series of legislation that gave legislative sanction to the historical local custom that an upland owner had exercisable rights to the of the adjacent tidewaters. Bailey, 19 N.J. at 369. The purpose of riparian instruments and the establishment of "exterior lines" were to provide the owner with access to navigable waters. Id. at 373. In the context of confirmatory action, the TRC is specifically "directed to consider whether the grant, taken in conjunction with all other grants in the immediate area, provides 'reasonable access to riparian owners to deep water beyond bulkhead and pierhead lines." Id. at 374. As such, it is clear that the legislature intended to

prohibit structures beyond the pierhead lines so as to ensure that all riparian owners have reasonable access to the deepwater channel beyond bulkhead and pierhead lines.

Uniformity in establishing the pierhead lines through the State is critical for the TRC to properly exercise its powers. Appellant's case is a hallmark example to show the need for uniformity. The record reflects a clear showing of negative impacts to navigation and safety. During the TRC hearings, Appellant testified that because of the Jibsail extended dock, it is difficult and hazardous to navigate and use the Appellant's own dock. [SCa7.] Prior to the Jibsail Dock extension, Appellant had a "straight shot" to access the deepwater channel. [SCa7]; [Aa401-Aa403]. Since construction of the dock extension, boats must navigate to the west to get around Jibsail's extended dock, which causes significant issues during low tide. [SCa7.] On rainy days, it is difficult to get in and out because it is now necessary to come to the dock at an angle while fighting the current. [SCa7.] John Morris also testified as to the difficulties of navigating because of the Jibsail extended dock. If there is a west wind, Mr. Morris's ability to come in from the north or east is now severely compromised, requiring him to raise his trim and come in at a speed faster than would be safe for docking. [SCa15.] A west wind pushes the boats towards the Jibsail extended dock which creates a hazardous condition for navigation and approach. [SCa15.]

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