#### SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY DOCKET NO. 089547

IN THE MATTER OF P.T. JIBSAIL FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP TIDELANDS LICENSE NUMBER 1515-06-0012.1 TDI 190001. On Petition For Certification From: Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division Docket No. A-0699-22

#### **Civil Action**

#### SAT BELOW:

Hon. Jessica A. Mayer, J.A.D.

Hon. Mary Gibbons Whipple, J.A.D.

Hon. Lorraine M. Augostini, J.A.D.

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT P.T. JIBSAIL FAMILY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

CULLEN AND DYKMAN, LLP
Amie C. Kalac, Esq.
Attorney ID No. 026451998
Neil Yoskin, Esq.
Attorney ID No. 002091982
229 Nassau Street
Princeton, NJ 08542
609-279-0900

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This matter involves a waterfront homeowner's attempt to challenge a modification to a tidelands license granted by the Tidelands Resource Council ("TRC"), an arm of the New Jersey Department Environmental Protection ("NJDEP"), for a neighbor's legally compliant dock. Appellant-Petitioner Janine Morris Trust (hereinafter, "Petitioner") has no property interest in the State-claimed tidelands area of Barnegat Bay where the offending dock is located, and Petitioner's property is not impacted by the modified tidelands license or the dock. Petitioner's concern boils down to Petitioner's objection to the view of the dock from Petitioner's property and the dock's purported interference with Petitioner's use and enjoyment of its individual property. This matter does not raise a question of general public importance or involve any injustice, and does not merit the attention of this Court.

Respondent P.T. Jibsail Family Limited Partnership ("Jibsail") is the owner of a single family home at 83 Pershing Boulevard in the Borough of Lavallette, Ocean County, New Jersey. The adjacent property at 85 Pershing Boulevard is owned by Petitioner. Both property owners have docks approved by NJDEP's Division of Land Resource Protection that are covered by revocable tidelands licenses (rental agreements) granted by TRC for the use of the State's tidelands areas where the docks are located.

On May 19, 2017, NJDEP issued Waterfront Development Permit No. 1515-06-0002.1 WFD 170001 to Jibsail authorizing an extension of Jibsail's dock to meet NJDEP's regulatory requirements ("2017 Initial Permit"). As a condition of the 2017 Initial Permit, Jibsail obtained a tidelands license ("2017 Initial License").

After Jibsail's dock was constructed, Jibsail sought to modify the 2017 Initial Permit and 2017 Initial License to account for the as-built location of the dock which was angled 1.7 ft. to the south of the location approved in the 2017 Initial Permit. The dock was constructed 1.7 ft. in the opposite direction of Petitioner. There was no change to the length of the dock approved by the 2017 Initial Permit.

NJDEP approved Jibsail's permit modification ("2019 Modified Permit") to account for the de minimis change to the dock. Despite notice, Petitioner did not initially appeal the 2017 Initial Permit or 2017 Initial License. In connection with Petitioner's objection to the 2019 Modified Permit, Petitioner opposed Jibsail's application to modify the 2017 Initial License conforming the tidelands license area to the 2019 Modified Permit. Petitioner also sought to include a late challenge to the 2017 Initial License seeking to revoke that approval.

TRC considered Petitioner's arguments and ultimately, acted pursuant to statute and settled administrative procedures, in granting Jibsail's modification to the 2017 Initial License ("2022 Modified License"). That decision is the subject of Petitioner's petition and the underlying Appellate Division decision.

The crux of Petitioner's challenge to TRC's authority to grant Jibsail a tidelands license is the length of Jibsail's dock which, as TRC confirmed, complies with all applicable NJDEP regulations. NJDEP regulations require a dock in submerged aquatic vegetation ("SAV") habitat to be long enough for its boat mooring area to reach at least four feet of water depth. Consistent with other docks along the State's shoreline in SAV, Jibsail's dock was required to meet this requirement.

Petitioner argues that TRC did not have statutory authority to grant a tidelands license to Jibsail for the dock because the dock extended beyond a purported pierhead line that could not be amended. However, Petitioner failed to identify any statutory provision that support this prohibition. Petitioner also ignores the approvals Jibsail received from NJDEP and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ("ACE") for the dock and the fact that the conveyance issued by TRC to Jibsail is a revocable tidelands license only not a grant. Petitioner does not have a preference over the State of New Jersey to control the use and occupancy of tidelands.

TRC considered Petitioner's arguments and approved Jibsail's 2022 Modified License. On appeal, the Appellate Division affirmed. It was proper to do so.

The Petition presents issues relevant to Petitioner only and does not involve any actual injustice. Therefore, this case does not merit this Court's time.

#### COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY<sup>1</sup>

On May 19, 2017, NJDEP's Division of Land Resource Protection issued the 2017 Initial Permit to Jibsail authorizing the construction of a 167.3 ft. extension to an existing residential dock constructed by a prior property owner. (Aa225-Aa230)<sup>2</sup>. Jibsail's initial application requested a 185 ft. dock extension. (Aa72-73; Aa383). Based on NJDEP's review of the Policy Compliance Statement submitted by Jibsail's professional engineer, Charles E. Lindstrom, P.E., NJDEP found that Jibsail's dock extension met N.J.A.C. 7:7-9.6(b)(6)(vi)(Submerged Vegetation Habitat Rule), which requires four feet of water for boat moorings, at a length of 167.3 ft. (Aa390-Aa397). The dock also met N.J.A.C. 7:7-9.7 (Navigational Channels Rule) and N.J.A.C. 7:7-12.5 (Recreational Docks and Piers Rule), which require that the dock not affect or hinder navigation and access to adjacent water areas. Jibsail's dock is 163 ft. from the navigation channel and exceeds the distance NJDEP requires the dock to be from Petitioner's property. (Aa429; JRa29). Photocell lights and reflectors were also installed along the dock as required by NJDEP. (JRa2). On August 17, 2017, Jibsail's dock was approved by the ACE. (Aa231-Aa234).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the sake of brevity, the procedural history and counterstatement of facts have been combined.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Aa" refers to Petitioner's Appellate Appendix. "JRa" refers to Jibsail's Appellate Appendix. "SCa" refers to Petitioner's Supreme Court Appendix.

Prior to the issuance of the 2017 Initial Permit to Jibsail, NJDEP Division of Land Resource Protection issued permits for docks similar in length to the owners of the properties immediately adjacent to Jibsail's property. (Aa197-Aa206; Aa291; Aa542; JRa30; JRa31). In addition to NJDEP's regulations, those docks and the shoreline curve dictated the location of Jibsail's dock. (Aa197-Aa206; Aa291; JRa30, JRa31). Docks similar in length are present throughout the State's tidewaters as shorter docks in SAV violate NJDEP's regulations.

As a condition of the 2017 Initial Permit, Jibsail filed an application for a tidelands license for the State-claimed tidelands area where the dock approved by the 2017 Initial Permit was located. (Aa57-Aa59; Aa160). TRC granted Jibsail a 10 year revocable tidelands license for the 1,598.4 sq. ft. of tidewaters as shown on the plan approved as part of the 2017 Initial Permit ("2017 Initial License"). (Aa183-Aa195; Aa429). Licenses were also granted for the neighboring docks. (Aa179-Aa182).

After the construction of Jibsail's dock in 2018, and receipt of Petitioner's objections, NJDEP inspected Jibsail's dock and determined that the contractor inadvertently placed the end of the dock 1.7 ft. from of the location approved by the 2017 Initial Permit (away from Petitioner's property). (Aa270). On November 1, 2018, Jibsail filed an application to modify the 2017 Initial Permit to reflect this minor modification which included a Policy Compliance Statement. Jibsail also

filed an application to modify the 2017 Initial License to reflect the minor 1.7 ft. change in the dock's location. The length of the dock approved by the 2017 Initial Permit had not changed. (JRa29).

On March 20, 2019, NJDEP issued the 2019 Modified Permit approving Jibsail's dock as constructed. (JRa27-JRa29; Aa271). On August 17, 2017, Jibsail's dock was approved by ACE. (JRa23-JRa26).

Despite notice, Petitioner did not appeal the 2017 Initial Permit or the 2017 Initial License. (Aa485). After Jibsail's dock was constructed, Petitioner notified NJDEP of its objection to the length of Jibsail's dock. However, the length approved by NJDEP in the 2017 Initial Permit and the 2019 Modified Permit is the same. The only difference in the dock between the 2017 Initial Permit and the 2019 Modified Permit is the 1.7 ft. placement away from Petitioner's property. (JRa29).

Following the issuance of the 2019 Modified Permit, Petitioner filed a third party hearing request with NJDEP's Office of Legal Affairs. That request was denied and is the subject of In the Matter of Denial of Third Party Hearing Request of P.T. Jibsail Family Limited Partnership File No. 1515-06-0012.1 WFD 170001; WFD 180001; Office of Legal Affairs File No. 19-06, Docket No. A-002570-22. Petitioner also objected to Jibsail's application for a modification of the 2017 Initial License to reflect the minor modification approved by NJDEP in the 2019 Modified Permit. Petitioner sought to incorporate a challenge to the 2017 Initial License.

On March 3, 2020, TRC considered Jibsail's application for a modified tidelands license including, testimony from Petitioner, NJDEP, Jibsail, and other third parties. Petitioner argued before TRC that its individual riparian rights extend beyond Petitioner's property/bulkhead line into the navigable waters of Barnegat Bay and that Jibsail's tidelands license interferes with such rights and navigation. (SCa13). Jibsail disputed Petitioner's position and submitted videos and other evidence to TRC which show that Jibsail's dock does not interfere with Petitioner. (SCa4; SCa11-SCa14; JRa56-JRa68 and the thumb drive submitted to the Court with the accompanying videos). Petitioner's statement that TRC relied entirely on the 2017 Initial Permit and/or the 2019 Modified Permit for a finding that navigation is not hindered is inaccurate. (Pb6). TRC considered at length whether the dock impeded navigation. (SCa3-SCa18). The case manager from NJDEP who issued the 2017 Initial Permit testified before TRC that Jibsail's dock was constructed pursuant to NJDEP's Regulations acknowledging that shorelines change over time. (SCa10). TRC also sought legal guidance before issuing a decision and requested that the parties submit post-hearing briefs. (SCa20; Aa330; Aa331).

On March 18, 2020, the transcript of the March 3, 2020 TRC meeting was submitted to TRC and the parties. Jibsail and Petitioner then submitted post-hearing briefs. (JRa80-JRa92). Thereafter, Petitioner submitted a reply to Jibsail's post-hearing brief to which Jibsail objected as TRC had not requested. (Aa307).

On September 14, 2022, TRC approved the issuance of the 2022 Modified License with the same effective dates as the 2017 Initial License. (Aa547-Aa555; SCa33-SCa58). The decision was approved by NJDEP Assistant Commissioner for Watershed & Land Management on October 6, 2022. (Aa546-Aa555).

TRC's decision included detailed findings responsive to Petitioner's objections. (Aa546-Aa555). TRC concluded that the 2022 Modified License "does not intersect at or inshore of the established pierhead line of any other licensee or grantee in the area" including, Petitioner, and rejected Petitioner's position that it riparian rights extend to the channel. (Aa552). TRC also confirmed that "the established pierhead line is the outshore extent of an individual riparian owner's riparian rights to erect a dock or pier, or to claim preemptive rights related to a pending application before the Council". (Aa552).

With regard to the alleged impacts on navigation or access to adjacent navigable waters, TRC concluded that "sufficient space was afforded to both the applicant and all permitted and licensed structures in the immediate area" and "sufficient means of navigation was evidenced for both the applicant and the permitted and licensed structures in the immediate area". (Aa552). In reaching its decision, TRC gave "due regard to the interests of navigation for both the application and other permitted and licensed structures in the area". (Aa552).

Following TRC's approval of the 2022 Modified License, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal. (Aa560-Aa562). Petitioner argued that Jibsail does not have the standing to obtain a tidelands license for its dock because it extends beyond the fixed pierhead line and interferes with Petitioner's use and enjoyment of its property. (Aa557). Petitioner also argued that TRC's granting of the 2017 Initial License and the 2022 Modified License were arbitrary, capricious and unreasonable. (Aa557). Petitioner argued that it had a right of first refusal and should have been provided notice pursuant to N.J.S.A. 12:3-23. (Aa557).

Jibsail, having constructed its dock in 2018 after receiving all of the approvals necessary, argued that its dock does not: violate any statutory or regulatory authority; hinder or pose a safety hazard to navigation; impair the ability of Petitioner to use its own dock; or interfere with Petitioner's individual riparian rights. TRC's issuance of the 2017 Initial License and 2022 Modified License is consistent with prior practice and statutory authority regarding tidelands licenses. The State of New Jersey, not Petitioner, owns the tidelands area licensed to Jibsail and controls use and occupancy. The extent of the tidelands areas used by Petitioner and Jibsail has been established by NJDEP permits and approved dock plans which were incorporated into both parties' respective tidelands licenses. (Aa429a; JRa29).

The Appellate Division issued its decision on May 8, 2024, affirming that TRC's decisions with regard to Jibsail's dock are within the statute and its

established administrative procedures. (SCa80; SCa82). The Appellate Division properly rejected Petitioner's argument that Jibsail's dock, as approved, is beyond an established pierhead line and is not in the public's interest. (SCa70). The Appellate Division also found no merit in Petitioner's arguments that Petitioner was deprived of proper notice and that Jibsail's dock violated Petitioner's rights as an upland owner or hindered navigation. (SCa70).

This Petition for Certification was filed on May 11, 2024. The question presented by Petitioner is limited to whether TRC has legislative authority to establish pierhead or exterior lines through individual conveyances. However, Petitioner's underlying appeal is of the 2022 Modified License only which did not amend the outward extent or exterior line of the Jibsail's licensed tidelands area fixed by the 2017 Initial License. (JRa15-JRa18; Aa429a; JRa29).

#### **LEGALARGUMENT**

#### POINT I

## THE PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THIS CASE DOES NOT MEET THE STANDARD FOR CERTIFICATION.

R. 2:12-4 states:

Certification will be granted only if the appeal presents a question of general public importance which has not been but should be settled by the Supreme Court or is similar to a question presented on another appeal to the Supreme Court; if the decision under review is in conflict with any other decision of the same or a higher court or calls for an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervision and in other matters if the

interest of justice requires. Certification will not be allowed on final judgments of the Appellate Division except for special reasons.

Where the "final judgment is essentially an application of settled principles to the facts" of the case or "the decision on review does not present a conflict among judicial decisions that requires clarification or calls for [the] Court's supervision," denial of certification is appropriate. Fox v. Woodbridge Twp. Bd. of Educ., 98 N.J. 513, 516 (1985); see also N.J. Div. of Youth & Family Servs. v. R.D., 207 N.J. 88 (2011); In re Route 280 Contract, 89 N.J. 1 (1982). Certification "should be granted only in limited instances." Reilly v. AAA Mid-Atlantic Co. of New Jersey, 194 N.J. 474, 496 (2008). The grounds for certification outlined in R. 2:12-4 set a "high hurdle [that] a petition for certification must vault in order to justify Supreme Court review." Ibid.

The grievance presented by Petitioner clearly is not a matter of general public importance. It is a local dispute between neighbors. What is at stake is Petitioner's desire to restrain Jibsail's riparian right to a dock and to protect the Petitioner's view which is not a protected property right. Petitioner's desire is not a matter of general public importance as contemplated by <u>R</u>. 2:12-4 This Court has denied certification in a similar case involving a dispute between neighbors regarding a dock. <u>See Matter</u> of Mora, 241 N.J. 326 (2020).

In order to expand the scope of this matter beyond Jibsail's dock, Petitioner argues that TRC is not permitted to set the exterior line of the tidewaters that an

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